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HOME HARVEST CARE, LLC,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 11-1215 SP



)

MISSOURI DEPARTMENT OF 
)

SOCIAL SERVICES,

)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION

We terminate Harvest Home Care, LLC (“Harvest Home’s”) Medicaid Title XIX participation agreement.
Procedure


Harvest Home and Cathy Ramey filed a complaint against the Missouri Department of Social Services (the “Department”) on June 13, 2011, and amended their complaint on July 11, 2011.  The Department answered the amended complaint on July 21, 2011.  On December 5, 2011, the Department filed a motion for partial dismissal.  On December 22, 2011, Ramey and Harvest Home responded to the motion.    


The amended complaint asserts a variety of claims against Department:  (a) damages for breach of contract and tortious interference with business expectancy; (b) injunctive relief and damages under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for violations of due process rights; (c) attorney’s fees under 

42 U.S.C. § 1988 and § 536.087
; (d) improper termination of their participation agreement for home and community based care to provide in-home services for the 2011 state fiscal year (“SFY 2011”); (e) improper denial of their application for an SFY 2011 participation agreement for home and community based care to provide consumer directed services; (f) improper termination of their vendor and provider licenses; and (g) improper termination of their open-ended Title XIX participation agreement.  On January 9, 2012, we granted the Department’s motion for partial dismissal, dismissed Ramey’s allegations for lack of jurisdiction, and determined the sole remaining claim over which we have jurisdiction was Harvest Home’s appeal of the Department’s decision to terminate its open-ended Title XIX participation agreement.

We held a hearing in the case on March 21, 2012.  The Department was represented by Matthew Laudano, Assistant Attorney General; Harvest Home was represented by Rufus J. Tate, Jr., Esq.

Findings of Fact

1.  Harvest Home, a personal care provider, was a Missouri limited liability company owned and operated by Cathy Ramey.

2.  At all relevant times, Harvest Home had an open-end Title XIX participation agreement with the Department to provide in-home services in the MO HealthNet program.

3.  On January 25, 2011, Harvest Home and Ramey, represented by legal counsel, entered into a deferred prosecution agreement (the “agreement” or “DPA”) with the Attorney General of the State of Missouri in which they admitted they:


a.  knowingly concealed or failed to disclose information with the intent to obtain health care payments to which Harvest Home and Ramey were not entitled during the time period January 1, 2010 to September 5, 2010, by filing 207 false Medicaid claims; and


b.  knowingly used as genuine a series of writings (time sheets) that they knew had been made so that they were purported to have been made by another, with the purpose to defraud, during the above-stated time period, by filing ten false Medicaid claims based on forged time sheets.


4.  By the terms of the DPA, Harvest Home and Ramey acknowledged they were subject to being charged with violating § 570.090.1(4) for the conduct they admitted.


5.  Harvest Home and Ramey agreed in the DPA to reimburse the MO HealthNet Fraud Reimbursement Fund in the amount of $32,707.49, and to pay a penalty to that fund in the additional amount of $32,707.49 by May 1, 2011, with the understanding that failing to make the reimbursement payment or attempting to discharge the payment in bankruptcy would be considered a violation of the agreement, for which the Missouri Attorney General or a local prosecuting attorney could initiate formal civil or criminal proceedings.  Harvest Home paid the full amount of the reimbursement and penalty prior to May 1, 2011.

6.  Attached to the agreement as “Exhibit A” was a listing of the 207 false Medicaid claims submitted by Harvest Home and, as “Exhibit B,” a listing of the ten false Medicaid claims based on forgeries, reflecting the Individual Control Number for each such false claim.

7.  The executed DPA formed the basis for the Department’s decision to terminate Harvest Home’s Title XIX participation agreement.


8.  Subsequent to her executing the DPA, Ramey conducted an investigation into whether Harvest Home employees were providing in-home services to family members, and submitting fraudulent, forged time sheets.  She found at least three employees who admitted to providing 
home care services for family members, and then misrepresenting that fact by submitting fraudulent and forged time sheets that had been switched and signed by another employee who was a non-relative.  The employees were initially warned to discontinue their fraudulent practices, and, after another month or two when their practices did not stop, two employees were terminated by Harvest Home.

9.  Harvest Home had no written policies in place instructing employees that Medicaid regulations prohibit home health care workers from providing in-home services to members of their own family.  Such policies were put in place after Harvest Home executed the DPA.


10.  Harvest Home had no previous history of sanctions imposed by the Department.

Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to hear Harvest Home’s complaint.
  We do not merely review the Department’s decision, but we find the facts and make an independent decision by applying existing law to the facts.
  We have the same degree of discretion as the Department and need not exercise it the same way.
  


Harvest Home has the burden of proof and must prove its case by a preponderance of the credible evidence.
  This Commission must judge the credibility of witnesses, and we have the discretion to believe all, part, or none of the testimony of any witness.
  When there is a direct conflict in the testimony, we must make a choice between the conflicting testimony.
  Our Findings of Fact reflect our determination of the credibility of witnesses.


The Department maintains its decision to terminate Harvest Home’s Title XIX participation agreement was based on the admissions of Harvest Home and Ramey contained in 
the DPA, which indicated Harvest Home violated its participation agreement and 13 CSR 70-3.030(3)(A)(1), (12), (29), and (32).  Those regulations provide:
(3) Program Violations.

(A) Sanctions may be imposed by the MO HealthNet agency against a provider for any one (1) or more of the following reasons:

1. Presenting, or causing to be presented, for payment any false or fraudulent claim for services or merchandise in the course of business related to MO HealthNet;

* * *
12. Violating any laws, regulations, or code of ethics governing the conduct of occupations or professions or regulated industries. In addition to all other laws which would commonly be understood to govern or regulate the conduct of occupations, professions, or regulated industries, this provision shall include any violations of the civil or criminal laws of the United States, of Missouri, or any other state or territory, where the violation is reasonably related to the provider’s qualifications, functions, or duties in any licensed or regulated profession or where an element of the violation is fraud, dishonesty, moral turpitude, or an act of violence; 

* * *
29. Conducting civil or criminal fraud against the MO HealthNet program or any other state Medicaid (medical assistance) program, or any criminal fraud related to the conduct of the provider’s profession or business;  
* * *
32. Submitting improper or false claims to the state or its fiscal agent by an agent or employee of the provider[.
]

The Department further argues the conduct which Harvest Home and Ramey admitted in the DPA violated §§ 191.905.1(3) and 570.090.1(4),
 which provide:
191.905. 1. No health care provider shall knowingly make or cause to be made a false statement or false representation of a material fact in order to receive a health care payment, including but not limited to: 

* * *

(3) Knowingly concealing or failing to disclose any information with the intent to obtain a health care payment to which the health care provider or any other health care provider is not entitled, or to obtain a health care payment in an amount greater than that which the health care provider or any other health care provider is entitled[.] 



570.090. 1. A person commits the crime of forgery if, with the purpose to defraud, 

the person: 

* * *

(4) Uses as genuine, or possesses for the purpose of using as genuine, or transfers with the knowledge or belief that it will be used as genuine, any writing or other thing including receipts and universal product codes, which the actor knows has been made or altered in the manner described in this section. 

Violation of these statutes, the Department asserts, also constitutes a violation of 13 CSR 70.3.030(3)(A)(12), because the violations are reasonably related to Harvest Home’s qualifications, functions, or duties in a regulated profession (in-home services), and because an element of the violation is fraud, dishonesty, and moral turpitude.


Finally, the Department contends Harvest Home’s conduct also violated 13 CSR 70-3.030(3)(A)(12) by violating 19 CSR 15-7.021(2), which provides:

(2) The in-home service provider shall deliver services in compliance with the standards set forth in this rule and 13 CSR 70-91.010 Personal Care Program, 13 CSR 70-3.020 Title XIX Provider Enrollment, and 13 CSR 70-3.030 Sanctions for False and Fraudulent Claims for Title XIX  Services.

Admissibility of the Deferred Prosecution Agreement

The Department’s case relied heavily on the DPA that Harvest Home entered into with the Attorney General.  In that agreement, Harvest Home made definitive admissions:
· It knowingly concealed or failed to disclose information with the intent to obtain health care payments to which it was not entitled, by filing 207 false Medicaid claims;

· It knowingly used as genuine a series of forged writings (time sheets) that it knew had been made so that they purported to have been made by another, with the purpose to defraud, by filing ten false Medicaid claims.


Nevertheless, Harvest Home asserts the DPA is irrelevant and should be given no weight because it was negotiated with the Attorney General to avoid prosecution; although Harvest Home was represented by counsel, it was not given proper legal advice before entering into the 
DPA; and the Department failed to present other competent and substantial evidence upon the record.  We disagree.


We fully recognize the admissions contained in the DPA do not collaterally estop Harvest Home from denying the conduct, and thus we afforded it the opportunity to present evidence at the hearing to contradict its admissions.  But a party’s admissions, even within the context of threatened prosecution, are by no means irrelevant and cannot be ignored.  

Deferred prosecution agreements are “agreements by the government not to prosecute a potential defendant in return for the admission of conduct and a period in which the potential defendant is subject to certain conditions, such as the payment of restitution or the adherence to a corporate compliance program.”
  They are contractual in nature, but not without probative value.  Enticed by the incentive to avoid prosecution, Harvest Home entered into the DPA freely and voluntarily.  It received the benefit of its bargain (i.e., it avoided prosecution), but now protests the fairness of using its admissions (part of the consideration given to the Attorney General) in these proceedings, as if such a consequence was unexpected.  But paragraph 15 of the DPA clearly states:
DEFENDANT understands and agrees that this Deferred Prosecution Agreement and/or any of its contests shall be admissible at any subsequent court proceeding[.
]

We find no merit in Harvest Home’s objections to the Department’s reliance on the DPA, or its admissibility.  As we note below, even if Harvest Home’s admissions are not given full weight, the additional evidence of its conduct presented at the hearing provides competent and substantial evidence on the record for our conclusions.
Submission of False Medicaid Claims

Harvest Home admitted in the DPA to filing 207 false Medicaid claims during the period from January 1, 2010 to September 5, 2010.  Each such false claim was identified by Individual Control Number (ICN) in the DPA, which was attached to the Department’s termination letter of May 13, 2011.  At the hearing, Harvest Home presented no evidence to substantiate any of the 207 claims.  Cathy Ramey testified she was unaware of the fraud.  According to Ramey, neither Harvest Home’s office manager nor its CPA ever alerted Ramey that false or fraudulent billings were being submitted on Harvest Home’s behalf, and she expected them to have disclosed such information to her.  But the provider is responsible for all services provided and all claims filed; this responsibility cannot be avoided by delegation to employees or agents.
  

Harvest Home failed to meet its burden of showing the 207 claims cited by the Department as false were fully substantiated, and, therefore, violated 13 CSR 70-3.030(3)(A)(1) and (32), and § 195.905.1(3) by knowingly filing 207 false Medicaid claims.  Because Harvest Home’s actions constituted civil fraud against the MO HealthNet Program, we also find violation of § 13 CSR 70-3.030(3)(A)(29).  As these cited statutes and regulations govern the conduct, functions, and duties of home health providers, and fraud is an essential element of each, we find Harvest Home violated 13 CSR 70.3.030(3)(A)(12).
Submission of Forged Claims

Harvest Home admitted in the DPA it knowingly submitted ten false Medicaid claims from January 1, 2010 to September 5, 2010.  Each such false claim was identified by ICN in the DPA as an attachment to the Department’s termination letter.  In essence, Harvest Home employees sought to conceal the fact that they were providing in-home services to family 
members, in violation of Medicaid regulations,
 by recording their time on the time sheet of a non-family member employee.  According to Ramey, she was unaware of the practice until the Attorney General’s inquiry, which prompted her to conduct her own investigation.  The admissions in the DPA were supplemented by Ramey’s testimony at the hearing:

Q.(By Commissioner Nelson) Did you determine whether your company had in fact 

submitted claims based on those switched time sheets?

Q.      Yes.

          
Q.      And what did you find?

       
A.      I found that they was [sic] actually sending in the time sheets, and the office 
manager had been billing for those particular time sheets.

       
Q.      So your company did in fact bill --

         
A.      Right.

       
Q.      -- for charges that were based on inaccurate and fraudulent information?

       
A.      Yes.[
]
Ramey’s investigation into this conduct eventually led to the discharge of two Harvest Home employees.  


This testimony, along with the admissions in the DPA, lead to only one conclusion:  that Harvest Home submitted claims using forged time sheets with the purpose to defraud the Department.  That Ramey had no hand in preparing the falsified claims is of no relevance, nor does Harvest Home avoid liability by pointing to the fraudulent acts of its employees.  Harvest Home, as the provider, is responsible for all claims filed in its name.  By filing ten false and forged claims, Harvest Home violated 13 CSR 70-3.030(3)(A)1 and 32, and §§ 191.905.1 and 570.090.1(4).  Because Harvest Home’s actions constitute civil fraud against the MO HealthNet 
Program, we also find violation of 13 CSR 70-3.030(3)(A)29.  And insofar as these statutes and regulations govern the conduct, functions, and duties of home health providers, and fraud is an essential element of each, we further find violation of 13 CSR 70-3.030(3)(A)12.

Failure to Deliver Services in Compliance with Standards

Section 19 CSR 15-7.021 requires health providers to deliver services in compliance with that section and 13 CSR 70-3.030, among others.  Harvest Home failed to comply with these standards as cited above, and thereby violated 19 CSR 15-7.021.
Sanctions


The Department determined the appropriate sanction for Harvest Home’s statutory and regulatory violations was termination from participation in the MO HealthNet Program.  Under the Department’s Regulation 13 CSR 70-3.030(5), the imposition of a sanction is discretionary: 

Imposition of a Sanction. 

(A) The decision as to the sanction to be imposed shall be at the discretion of the MO HealthNet agency. . . .

The filing of the appeal vests the Department’s discretion in this Commission, but we are not required to exercise it in the same way the Department did.
  

Regulation 13 CSR 70-3.030(4) provides: 

Any one (1) or more of the following sanctions may be invoked against providers for any one (1) or more of the program violations specified in section (3) of this rule:

*   *   *

(B) Termination from participation in the MO HealthNet program for a period of not less than sixty (60) days nor more than ten (10) years;

(C) Suspension of participation in the MO HealthNet program for a specified period of time; 

(D) Suspension or withholding of payments to a provider;

(E) Referral to peer review committees including PSROs or utilization review committees; 

(F) Recoupment from future provider payments;

(G) Transfer to a closed-end provider agreement not to exceed twelve (12) months or the shortening of an already existing closed-end provider agreement;

(H) Attendance at provider education sessions;

(I) Prior authorization of services;

(J) One hundred percent (100%) review of the provider's claims prior to payment;

(K) Referral to the state licensing board for investigation;

(L) Referral to appropriate federal or state legal agency for investigation, prosecution, or both, under applicable federal and state laws;

(M) Retroactive denial of payments[.]

Regulation 13 CSR 70-3.030(5)(A) provides the following guidelines for imposing a sanction: 

The following factors shall be considered in determining the sanction(s) to be imposed: 

1.  Seriousness of the offense(s)—The state agency shall consider the seriousness of the offense(s) including, but not limited to, whether or not an overpayment (that is, financial harm) occurred to the program, whether substandard services were rendered to MO HealthNet participants, or circumstances were such that the provider's behavior could have caused or contributed 

to inadequate or dangerous medical care for any patient(s), or a combination of these.  Violation of pharmacy laws or rules, 

practices potentially dangerous to patients and fraud are to be considered particularly serious;

2.  Extent of violations—The state MO HealthNet agency shall consider the extent of the violations as measured by, but not 

limited to, the number of patients involved, the number of MO HealthNet claims involved, the number of dollars identified in any 
overpayment and the length of time over which the violations occurred[;] 

3.  History of prior violations—The state agency shall consider whether or not the provider has been given notice of prior violations of this rule or other program policies.  If the provider has received notice and has failed to correct the deficiencies or has resumed the deficient performance, a history shall be given substantial weight supporting the agency's decision to invoke sanctions.  If the history includes a prior imposition of sanction, the agency should not apply a lesser sanction in the second case, even if the subsequent violations are of a different nature; 

4.  Prior imposition of sanctions—The MO HealthNet agency shall consider more severe sanctions in cases where a provider has been subject to sanctions by the MO HealthNet program, any other governmental medical program, Medicare, or exclusion by any private medical insurance carriers for misconduct in billing or professional practice.  Restricted or limited participation in compromise after being notified or a more severe sanction should be considered as a prior imposition of a sanction for the purpose of this subsection; 

5.  Prior provision of provider education—In cases where sanctions are being considered for billing deficiencies only, the MO HealthNet agency may mitigate its sanction if it determines that prior provider education was not provided.  In cases where sanctions are being considered for billing deficiencies only and prior provider education has been given, prior provider education followed by a repetition of the same billing deficiencies shall weigh heavily in support of the medical agency’s decision to invoke severe sanctions[.] 


Harvest Home’s offenses as detailed here were numerous and serious.  Particularly troubling is Ramey’s claimed lack of knowledge that improprieties were going on.  Her passive management of Harvest Home no doubt contributed to the repeated instances of fraud.  Harvest Home’s conduct caused financial harm to the MO HealthNet program, but because the DPA required payment of restitution and a penalty, that has been addressed.  However, by Ramey’s own testimony, forged and fraudulent time sheets continued to be submitted after the DPA had 
been executed, and she seemed to have no idea how to effectively prevent the violations from continuing.  

We also must consider whether substandard services were rendered to MO HealthNet recipients, or circumstances were such that the provider's behavior could have caused or contributed to inadequate or dangerous medical care for any patients. We find no such evidence.

While it is unclear how many clients of Harvest Home were involved, we do know 217 forged or otherwise fraudulent claims were documented over a period of nine months.  The amount of restitution required by the DPA and paid by Harvest Home, $32,707.49, indicates the extent of the violations was significant.  


Harvest Home contends it has no history of prior violations or sanctions, and that termination of its participation agreement in the MO HealthNet program is too harsh a sanction.  It also points to the DPA’s requirement that for the three-year term of the agreement, it must comply with all state and federal laws, including those governing Medicaid and Medicaid payments, and to bill MO HealthNet in a lawful manner, under the threat of immediate prosecution and possible civil and criminal penalties.  The DPA may make any future prosecution of Harvest Home easier in the event violations occur again, but in some ways it is no more an incentive for compliance than an executed participation agreement was.  Prior to entering into the DPA, Harvest Home was already obligated, contractually and legally, to deliver services in compliance with the statutes and regulations, yet violations occurred.  After entering into the DPA, violations continued to occur. 

A provider of home health care services under the MO HealthNet Program must contend with the complex regulatory environment within which it operates.  The demands of compliance are challenging, and, from time to time, even the most diligent management may make mistakes.  But Harvest Home gives us no indication it is up to the challenge of continued compliance.   
Though it made cogent arguments in favor of its continued participation, it presented little evidence to support them.  We determine the sanction of termination is appropriate to protect the MO HealthNet program from substantial fiscal risk, and to indicate to other providers, and to taxpayers, that Missouri’s Medicaid program has no tolerance for fraud.  

Summary


We terminate Harvest Home’s Title XIX participation agreement.

SO ORDERED on November 20, 2012.


________________________________



MARY E. NELSON


Commissioner

�Statutory references are to RSMo Supp. 2000, unless otherwise noted. 


�Section 208.156.8 and § 621.055.1, RSMo Supp. 2011.


�Geriatric Nursing Facility v. Department of Soc. Servs., 693 S.W.2d 206, 209 (Mo. App., W.D. 1985).


�State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 614 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).


�Section 621.055, RSMo Supp. 211; Harrington v. Smarr, 844 S.W.2d 16, 19 (Mo. App., W.D. 1992).


�Harrington, 844 S.W.2d at 19.  


�Id.


�13 CSR 70-3.030(3)(A).  The Department’s termination letter also cites 13 CSR 70-3.030(3)(A)(2), which it mistakenly cites as (A)(12).  Because the Department does not reference (A)(2) in its answer or in its argument, we do not consider it in this decision.


�RSMo Supp. 2011.


	�United States v. Goldfarb, 2012 WL 3860756 (N.D. Cal.).


	�Respondent’s Exhibit B.  While we acknowledge this Commission does not conduct “court proceedings,” we see no meaningful difference between the use of Harvest Home’s admissions in such proceedings and this setting, nor does Harvest Home argue such a difference exists.


�13 CSR 70-3.020(9).


�Pursuant to 13 CSR 70-91.010(3)(K)4, an in-home personal care worker may not be a family member of the recipient for whom such care is to be provided.


�Tr. at 116.


�Dept. of Soc. Servs. v. Mellas, 220 S.W.3d 778, 782-83  (Mo. App., W.D. 2007).  
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